FEB 1 2 2016

# 92775-8

NO. 46162-5-II

Ronald R. Carpenter

Clerk

MH

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

ν.

MIGUEL ANGEL ALBARRAN, Appellant

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO.13-1-01301-1

# PETITION FOR REVIEW

Attorneys for Respondent:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK Prosecuting Attorney Clark County, Washington

ANNE M. CRUSER, WSBA #27944 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney 1013 Franklin Street PO Box 5000 Vancouver WA 98666-5000 Telephone (360) 397-2261

#

ISSUES PRESENTED		
I.	Is rape in the second degree by sexual intercourse with a person who is incapable of consent by mental incapacity or physical helplessness (found in RCW 9A.44.050 (1) (b)) concurrent with the crime of rape of a child (in all three degrees), with rape of a child being the specific statute and rape in the second degree being the general statute?	
II.	Does RCW 9.94A.837 (1), which provides for a special allegation when the crime of rape in the second degree is committed against a victim who is under fifteen years of age, apply only to rape in the second degree when committed by forcible compulsion, in spite of the clear language of the statute?	
STATEM	ENT OF THE CASE2	
	A. Factual Summary2	
	B. Decision Below 5	
ARGUMI	ENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED6	
I.	Rape in the second degree by sexual intercourse with a person who is incapable of consent by mental incapacity or physically helplessness (found in RCW 9A.44.050 (1) (b)) is not concurrent with the crime of rape of a child (in all three degrees), with rape of a child being the specific statute and rape in the second degree being the general statute?	
II.	Does RCW 9.94A.837 (1), which provides for a special allegation when the crime of rape in the second degree is committed against a victim who is under fifteen years of age, apply only to rape in the second degree when committed by forcible compulsion, in spite of the clear language of the statute?	
CONCLU	ISION	

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases
State ex rel. Royal v. Board of Yakima County Comm'rs, 123 Wn.2d 451, 869 P.2d 56 (1994)
State v. Elgin, 118 Wn.2d 551, 825 P.2d 314 (1992)
State v. Hughes, 166 Wn.2d 675, 212 P.3d 558 (2009)
State v. Wright, 183 Wn.App. 719, 334 P.3d 22 (2014)
1303m 1308 (1996)
130311 1308 (1990)
Statutes
RCW 9.94.83712
RCW 9.94A.837 10, 11, 12
RCW 9.94A.837 (1)11
RCW 9A.44.050 (1) (b)
RCW 9A.44.076
RCW 9A.44.0797
RCWs 9A.44.073, .076, and .079 5
RCW 13.4 (b) (4)
·
Rules
RAP 13.4 (b)

# **IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

The State of Washington asks this Court to accept review of the unpublished decision in Part B of this Petition.

## DECISION

Petitioner State of Washington seeks review of the Court of Appeals, Division II's unpublished decision filed on December 1, 2015 (Motion to Reconsider denied on January 8, 2016), reversing and dismissing the conviction of rape in the second degree. A copy of the opinion of the Court of Appeals is attached.

## ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Is rape in the second degree by sexual intercourse with a person who is incapable of consent by mental incapacity or physical helplessness (found in RCW 9A.44.050 (1) (b)) concurrent with the crime of rape of a child (in all three degrees), with rape of a child being the specific statute and rape in the second degree being the general statute?
- II. Does RCW 9.94A.837 (1), which provides for a special allegation when the crime of rape in the second degree is committed against a victim who is under fifteen years of age, apply only to rape in the second degree when committed by forcible compulsion, in spite of the clear language of the statute?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# A. FACTUAL SUMMARY

Miguel Albarran raped thirteen year-old T.P. as she slept in her bed, after sneaking into her bedroom in the early morning of April 1, 2013. RP 245-249. Albarran was in a dating relationship with T.P.'s mother, Denise Domke, and Albarran lived with Domke and T.P. RP 243.

On March 31, 2013, which was Easter Sunday, Albarran joined Ms. Domke and T.P. at Domke's parents' home for Easter dinner. RP 245-46. That evening T.P. was permitted to stay up later than usual because she was on Spring Break from school. RP 248. The next morning, Ms. Domke awoke for work at 7:15 a.m. and made a pot of coffee, which was her normal routine. RP 249. Her normal custom was to get up, make a pot of coffee, occasionally have a cigarette, select her work clothes, then take her things into her bathroom and get ready in there. RP 247. She would brush her teeth and get dressed in the bathroom. RP 247. On a normal day, she would then check on T.P. and make sure she was getting ready for school. RP 247. Albarran normally went to work at nine or ten in the morning. RP 247. Ms. Domke always showered before anyone else because it took her longer to get ready for her day. RP 248. On this particular morning, Ms. Domke had brought her clothes into the bathroom to get dressed, as was her custom, but after her shower she realized that

she'd forgotten her hosiery in the dryer so she left her room to retrieve her tights. RP 249-50.

As she walked by T.P.'s room, which was adjacent to her own, she looked inside T.P.'s open door and saw Albarran in T.P.'s room. RP 249-50. T.P. sleeps "like a rock," and was asleep on her bed when Ms. Domke looked in. RP 250-51. Albarran, however, was partially on T.P.'s bed. RP 251. He had his left leg down on the floor and his right leg up on the bed. RP 250. His left hand was down by his side. RP 251. Albarran's face was in T.P.'s vaginal area. RP 251. Upon seeing this, Ms. Domke began yelling, "What the f\*ck are you doing?" RP 251. Albarran sat up quickly and fled the room. RP 251. Ms. Domke shut the door and continued to yell "What the hell are you doing?" RP 251. Albarran replied "I'm covering her up. I'm just covering her up." RP 251. Ms. Domke got dressed and retrieved her phone, all the while saying, "What did you do? Why would you hurt my baby?" RP 251-52. Albarran continued to claim he was just covering her up and was "just looking," RP 252. He also pleaded with Ms. Domke not to call the police, saying he wouldn't be able to see his kids anymore. RP 252. Ms. Domke disregarded his pleas and took her phone into T.P.'s room, where she called 911. RP 252.

There, T.P. was crying. RP 252. Ms. Domke asked her what happened, but T.P. didn't know. RP 252. She was merely aware of

Albarran and Ms. Domke fighting. RP 252, Ms. Domke asked T.P. if her underwear were wet, based on where she had seen Albarran's face.

RP 252. T.P. replied that they were, but that she didn't know what happened because she was sleeping. RP 253.

T.P. recalled that she fell asleep the night before while watching a movie. RP 57. It wasn't a school night, so she got to stay up late. RP 57. She woke up to her mom yelling, "What's happening?" RP 57. Albarran was also there, saying, "I'm just covering her." RP 58. T.P. recalled Albarran asking Ms. Domke not to call the police, fearing his kids would be taken away. RP 63. Ms. Domke told Albarran to get out of T.P.'s room. RP 58. T.P.'s underwear was wet in the crotch area. RP 59. That was unusual for her. RP 59. The area also felt "tickly." RP 59. When the police came to her house she went into her room and changed her underwear, giving the pair she had been wearing to the police. RP 60.

Officer Rey Reynolds of the Vancouver Police Department responded to the 911 call. RP 120. When he arrived, he observed Ms. Domke holding a young teenage girl, and they were both crying. RP 121. Ms. Domke told Reynolds that she was walking by T.P.'s room and saw her boyfriend with his head between T.P.'s legs. RP 125. She said that T.P. was asleep. RP 126. T.P. was extremely upset during the discussion with Reynolds. RP 126.

Subsequent testing revealed Albarran's DNA, from both saliva and semen, in the crotch area of T.P.'s underwear, and Albarran's saliva was found on T.P.'s inner left thigh. RP 192-212.

Albarran was convicted of rape in the second degree, rape of a child in the second degree, attempted rape of a child in the second degree, and child molestation in the second degree. CP 31-34. He was also found to have committed the rape in the second degree against a person under the age of 15. CP 37. The court entered judgment only on the rape in the second degree conviction. CP 48-61. The other convictions were vacated and dismissed. Albarran filed a timely appeal.

## B. Decision Below

The Court of Appeals reversed Albarran's conviction for rape in the second degree, holding that RCW 9A.44.050 (1) (b) is a statute that is concurrent with rape of a child (in any degree), under RCWs 9A.44.073, .076, and .079. The Court held that RCW 9A.44.050 (1) (b) is the general statute. The Court, relying entirely on this Court's opinion in *State v*.

Hughes, 166 Wn.2d 675, 684, 212 P.3d 558 (2009), held that a child is incapable of consent, and is thereby mentally incapacitated as a matter of law. Thus, the Court held, rape in the second degree under RCW 9A.44.050 (1) (b) is always committed when a defendant commits rape of a child. Stated another way, the Court believed that the State could prove

rape in the second degree under RCW 9A.44.050 (1) (b) by showing nothing more than a defendant having sexual intercourse with a child—irrespective of whether that child was mentally incapacitated or physically helpless. For the reasons set forth below, the State asks this Court to accept review of this decision and reverse the decision.

## ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

RAP 13.4 (b) provides the considerations governing acceptance of review. Review may be granted:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The State asserts that review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b) (1), (3), and (4).

I. Rape in the second degree by sexual intercourse with a person who is incapable of consent by mental incapacity or physically helplessness (found in RCW 9A.44.050 (1) (b)) is not concurrent with the crime of rape of a child (in all three degrees), with rape of a child being the specific statute and rape in the second degree being the general statute?

In holding that Albarran may only be convicted or rape of a child in the second degree where he raped a mentally incapacitated and physically helpless thirteen-year-old, the Court of Appeals misapplied the concurrent/specific statute rule. Under this rule of statutory construction, the general statute must be violated every time the specific statute is violated. *State v. Wright*, 183 Wn.App. 719, 731, 334 P.3d 22 (2014). The Court of Appeals held that RCW 9A.44.076, defining rape of a child in the second degree, and RCW 9A.44.079, defining rape of a child in the third degree<sup>1</sup>, are specific statutes that must be charged in any situation in which a prosecutor might also be able to charge rape in the second degree under RCW 9A.44.050 (1) (b). The Court held that minors under the age of sixteen are mentally incapacitated as a matter of law, preventing the State from prosecuting a defendant who rapes a child under the age of sixteen when that child is asleep or severely intoxicated.

In so holding, the Court of Appeals overlooked the fact that children are not mentally incapacitated as a matter of law. As the State argued below in its opening brief, children may consent to sex with one another so long as the age of one party does not exceed a certain distance from the age of the other. That is, a fifteen year-old boy may have sex

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Although this case involved a charge of rape of a child in the second degree, the Court's ruling applies equally to a prosecution for rape of a child in the third degree. The analysis is identical.

with a thirteen year-old girl without any legal consequence. See RCW 9A.44.076. A thirteen year-old is capable, as a matter of law, of consenting to sex with a person so long as that person is not at least thirty-six months older than she.

Under the Court of Appeal's reasoning, an eighteen year-old perpetrator who has intercourse with a sleeping or severely intoxicated fifteen year-old may be prosecuted for rape in the second degree under RCW 9A.44.050(1)(b). Indeed, rape in the second degree would be the only charge available to the State because the difference in age between the parties is not great enough to charge rape of a child. In contrast, a thirty year-old perpetrator who has sex with a sleeping or severely intoxicated fifteen year-old may only be prosecuted for rape of a child in the third degree. The eighteen year-old perpetrator, in other words, would be liable for rape in the second degree, whereas the thirty year-old perpetrator would only be liable for rape of a child in the third degree. This is an absurd result that the legislature could not possibly have intended. In interpreting a statute, the reviewing court must construe a statute so as to effectuate legislative intent. Whatcom Cty. v. City of Bellingham, 128 Wn.2d 537, 546, 909 P.2d 1303m 1308 (1996). The reviewing court must avoid unlikely, absurd, or strained consequences. State v. Elgin, 118 Wn.2d 551, 555, 825 P.2d 314 (1992). "The court must give effect to legislative intent determined 'within the context of the entire statute.'" Whatcom Cty., at 546, citing Elgin, at 556, State ex rel. Royal v. Board of Yakima County Comm'rs, 123 Wn.2d 451, 459, 869 P.2d 56 (1994). In holding that a person may only be convicted of rape of a child when he rapes a physiologically incapacitated person who falls within a certain age category, and for which his age exceeds an acceptable range of difference, is absurd, unlikely, and strained, and the legislature did not intend this.

In reaching this holding, this Court erroneously relied on *State v. Hughes*, 166 Wn.2d 675, 212 P.3d 558 (2009). *Hughes* was a double jeopardy case. It neither held that rape in the second degree and rape of a child in the second degree are concurrent statutes, nor did it even discuss such a claim. Indeed, a careful reading of *Hughes* demonstrates that the *Hughes* Court drew a distinction between age and mental incapacity:

Regardless of whether nonconsent is proved by the age of the victim and the age differential between the victim and the perpetrator, or by the mental incapacity or physical helpless of the victim, both statutes protect individuals who are unable to consent by reason of their status.

Hughes, at 684. A child is "unable to consent by reason of [his/her] status" when he or she has intercourse with a person who is at least thirty-six months older than he/she (for rape of a child in the second degree) or

forty-eight months older than he/she (for rape of a child in the third degree). Rape of a child is a status offense, whereas rape in the second degree is based on a physiological inability (whether transitory or chronic) to consent—irrespective of status.

That the legislature did not intend this result is further demonstrated by its inclusion of rape in the second degree in the exclusive list of crimes for which a special allegation may be filed when the victim was under the age of fifteen. The Court of Appeals provided no analysis for its consideration of this argument beyond merely quoting Albarran's brief. In so doing, the Court held, for the first time, that RCW 9.94A.837 applies only to rape in the second degree when committed by forcible compulsion noting that the legislature must have only intended for this special allegation to apply when the rape was accomplished by forcible compulsion. In other words, this Court engaged in statutory construction, and applied a limiting construction, to an unambiguous statute that is not even under challenge. Moreover, this Court's holding is belied by the plain language of the statute itself. The legislature, in writing RCW 9.94A.837, specifically limited the application of the special allegation in indecent liberties cases to cases where the indecent liberties was accomplished by forcible compulsion. The legislature was aware of the different means by which sex crimes can be committed. Both rape in the

second degree and indecent liberties are alternative means crimes which can be accomplished by forcible compulsion (as one means) or by the victim being mentally incapacitated (another means). Yet the legislature, in crafting RCW 9.94A.837, made the special allegation applicable to rape in the second degree without restriction, and indecent liberties only when accomplished by forcible compulsion. Thus, this Court's treatment of the State's argument on this point warrants reexamination, and the limiting construction applied to RCW 9.94A.837 by this Court is facially unreasonable.

II. Does RCW 9.94A.837 (1), which provides for a special allegation when the crime of rape in the second degree is committed against a victim who is under fifteen years of age, apply only to rape in the second degree when committed by forcible compulsion, in spite of the clear language of the statute?

The Court of Appeals held that RCW 9.94A.837, which provides for a special allegation to be filed with rape in the second degree is committed against a child who is under fifteen years of age, was not intended to apply to rape in the second degree when the rape was committed under RCW 9A.44.050 (1) (b). For the reasons set forth in part I, above, this holding is incorrect. Under this holding, an eighteen year-old perpetrator who rapes an unconscious fifteen year-old (who cannot be charged with rape of a child due to the closeness of age and can only be

charged with rape in the second degree) cannot be liable for the special allegation under RCW 9.94A.837 because RCW 9.94.837, according to the Court of Appeals, cannot apply to rape in the second degree when charged under RCW 9A.44.050 (1) (b). This, again, is an absurdity that could not have been intended by the legislature. For the foregoing reasons, the State asks this Court to accept review of the decision of the Court of Appeals reversing Albarran's conviction for rape in the second degree.

The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with this Court's decision in *Hughes*, supra. First, as argued above, *Hughes* did not hold that rape of a child and rape in the second degree are concurrent statutes, and that the State would be *precluded* from charging a perpetrator such as Albarran with rape in the second degree where the perpetrator rapes an unconscious child. Indeed, *Hughes* instructed the Court of Appeals, on remand, to impose the judgment on the more serious (measured by duration of sentence) of the two crimes in accordance with settled principles of double jeopardy. *Hughes* at 686, Fn. 13. In Albarran's case, the more serious offense, as measured by duration of sentence, is rape in the second degree—the conviction that the Court of Appeals reversed and dismissed. This holding thereby conflicts with *Hughes*. The decision of the Court of Appeals also conflicts with *Hughes* in that it misapplied *Hughes*,

and held that *Hughes* compelled a result that it does not, in fact, compel. For these reasons, review is warranted under RAP 13.4 (b) (1).

The decision of the Court of Appeals also involves a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington and the United States Constitution. As argued above, the holding of the Court of Appeals is that whereas an eighteen year-old perpetrator who rapes an unconscious or severely impaired fifteen year-old must be charged with rape in the second degree, a thirty year-old perpetrator who commits *the same act* may only be charged with rape of a child in the third degree—a much less serious offense. This implicates equal protection concerns, warranting review under RAP 13.4 (b) (3).

The decision of the Court of Appeals involves a significant issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court.

Although the decision below settles significant questions of first impression, the Court of Appeals elected not to publish the decision.

However, it would be unrealistic to assume that this decision will not have significant impact in the trial courts of this State. Defendants charged under facts similar to this will argue for dismissal of the rape in the second degree charge, employing the reasoning of this case. Trial court judges will likely be aware, even though this case is not specifically cited, that the argument has been credited by a higher court. Unpublished decisions,

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