A. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT/COUNTER-PETITIONER 

The respondent and counter-petitioner in this case is Miguel Albar

ran, the defendant below. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The State of Washington has sought review of the unpublished de

cision in State v. Miguel Albarran, Slip Op. 46162-5-II (filed 12/01/15), 

reconsideration denied, January 8, 2016. In this response, Miguel Albar

ran asks that if review is granted, this Court also accept review of the 

Sixth Amendment and exclusion of evidence issues addressed in the court 

of appeals decision. 

C. RESPONSE TO ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1 In State v. Hughes, 1 this Court determined that double jeop

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

because the decision is in conflict with this Court's decision in State v. 

Hughes, 166 Wn.2d 675,212 P.3d 558 (2009). The State believes that Al

barran conflicts with Hughes because Hughes remanded for a determina

tion as to which conviction should be dismissed. 

There is no conflict here. In Hughes, the appellant did not raise a 

general/specific claim. The parties did not even address the issue of which 

conviction must be dismissed. See Hughes, 166 Wn.2d at fn. 13 ("In their 

briefing, the parties did not give us any guidance about which conviction 

to vacate.") Further, as the court of appeals explained, although Hughes 

may not have specifically addressed the issue, the reasoning in that case 

supports the conclusion that the general/specific doctrine applies. 

The State argues that under Hughes, "rape of a child is a status of

fense, whereas rape in the second degree is based on a physiological ina

bility (whether transitory or chronic) to consent-irrespective of status." 

Petition at 10. In other words, claims the State, they cannot be concurrent 

offenses because one is based on status and the other is not. But this ar

gument is contrary to Hughes, where the Court stated the opposite: "both 
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statutes require proof of nonconsent because of the victim's status." 166 

Wn.2d at 683. See also Hughes, at 683 ("both statutes protect individuals 

who are unable to consent by reason of their status."). 

In some cases a victim may be unable to consent because alcohol 

has reduced her ability to fully understand and appreciate what she is 

agreeing to. See State v. Al-Hamdani, 109 Wn. App. 599, 610, 36 P.3d 

1103, 1108 (2001). In other cases, it is the lack of age and maturity that 

makes a person incapable of appreciating the nature and consequences of 

the sex act. See State v. Clements, 78 Wn. App. 458, 467, 898 P.2d 324 

(1995) (courts presume minors lack capacity to consent to sexual relations 

because they are too immature to rationally or legally consent.). As the 

Hughes Court recognized, in either event, the inability to consent is at the 

heart of the crime. Hughes, 166 Wn.2d at 683. 

The State argued below that "if Albarran is correct, the portion of 

RCW 9.94A.537 which allows this aggravator to be applied to Rape in the 

Second Degree would be rendered meaningless." COA Response at 32. 

The court of appeals rejected that argument, pointing out "there are many 

ways of committing Rape in the Second Degree, only one of which relates 

to incapacity." Slip Op. at 20, fn 9. 

The State characterizes this ruling as meaning the enhancement 

"applies only to rape in the second degree when committed by forcible 
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compulsion." Petition at 10. This is a misrepresentation of the court's 

holding, because the court of appeals did not interpret the enhancement 

statute, nor did it make a finding that the enhancement only applied to the 

forcible compulsion prong. Rather, the court simply held that when the 

victim is a child, the State must charge the defendant under the child rape 

statute rather than the incapacity prong of rape in the second degree. The 

discussion regarding the enhancement statute was only in response to the 

State's claim that this interpretation would render the enhancement statute 

meaningless, with the court of appeals pointing out that the statue still 

serves a purpose because of the other five means of committing second 

degree rape. 

The question of whether a conviction violates the general/specific 

rule is a question of statutory interpretation rather than one of constitu

tional law. The State sets forth a hypothetical situation in its petition that 

could produce an inequitable result to a hypothetical defendant, and argues 

that this creates a substantial issue of constitutional law under RAP 

13.4(b)(3). This is much too attenuated a claim to create a constitutional 

lSSUe. 

Finally, the State argues that review is appropriate under RAP 

13 .4(b )( 4) because this unpublished case involves an issue of "substantial 

public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." Petition 
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at 13. The State's main argument is that although the case is unpublished, 

trial attorneys and trial courts will disregard the law and rely upon the de-

cision. This is ironic. We assume jurors will follow the law as given to 

them and will ignore stricken evidence or remarks, but somehow attorneys 

and trial judges will not be able to do so? 

The State argues that review is appropriate under this prong be-

cause it is "unconscionable" that the State would be precluded from bring-

ing the appropriate charge against a defendant. But the State's outrage 

does not make the issue one of "substantial public interest." This is not a 

statute that will impact the public on a regular basis. The decision does not 

identify prohibited conduct; it does not provide necessary guidance on the 

public's daily interactions with each other or the government; it does not 

define the rights of individuals or organizations; it's not even an issue like-

ly to reoccur. The case does not satisfy RAP 13.4 (b)(4). Review should 

be denied. 

F. REVIEW OF ADDITIONAL ISSUES SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

1. Review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(l) and (3), 
where the trial court prevented the defense from intro
ducing specific acts demonstrating a key witness' mo
tive and bias. 

"A trial court's denial of a criminal defendant's right to adequately 

cross-examine an essential state witness as to relevant matters tending to 

establish bias or motive will violate the Sixth Amendment right of con-
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frontation." Robert H. Aronson, The Law of Evidence in Washington, 

Sec. 607.042(2) (4th ed. 2005). Accordingly, a defendant "should be given 

great latitude in the cross-examination of prosecution witnesses to show 

motive or credibility." State v. Roberts, 25 Wn. App. 830, 834, 611 P.2d 

1297 (1980). 

A defendant is entitled to confront the witnesses against him with 

bias evidence when the evidence is at least minimally relevant. State v. 

Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d 1, 16,659 P.2d 514 (1983). "Bias includes that which 

exists at the time of trial, for the very purpose of impeachment is to pro

vide information that the jury can use, during deliberations, to test the wit

ness' accuracy while the witness was testifying." State v. Fisher, 165 

Wn.2d 727, 752-753, 202 P.3d 937 (2009); quoting, State v. Dolan, 118 

Wn. App. 323, 327-328, 73 P.3d 1011 (2003). The defendant is granted 

more "latitude to expose the bias of a key witness. " Fisher, 165 Wn.2d at 

752-753, citing, State v. Darden, 145 Wn.2d 612, 619, 41 P.3d 1189 

(2002). Violations of the state and federal confrontation clauses are re

viewed de novo. State v. Medina, 112 Wn. App. 40, 48, 48 P.3d 1005 

(2002). 

The court of appeals in the present case did not review the exclu

sion of the bias evidence under a de novo standard. Rather, the court em

ployed a "manifest abuse of discretion" test to the court's ruling. Slip Op. 
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at 8. In using this standard, the court of appeals acknowledged, "there is 

some disagreement in the case law as to what standard of review is to be 

used." Slip Op. at fn 5. Confusion as to the appropriate standard was also 

acknowledged by the State in their response brief. The State pointed out 

that while Division Two has employed an abuse of discretion standard, 

Division One employs a de novo review when evaluating the exclusion of 

evidence. COA Response at 21, citing to State v. Strizheus, 163 Wn. App. 

820, 829, 262 P.3d 100 (2011). In Strizheus, Division One relied upon this 

Court's decision in State v. Iniguez, 167 Wn.2d 273,217 P.3d 768 (2009) 

which employed the de novo standard. 

The first step in any appellate review is to determine the appropri

ate standard of review. Without a consensus as to the appropriate standard 

of review, there will be a lack of consistency in appellate court decisions. 

Review is necessary to resolve this conflict. RAP 13.4(b)(2). Further, be

cause this Court's most recent decisions have cited to a de novo standard 

on constitutional challenges, review is appropriate under RAP 13 .4(1) as 

well. 

Turning to the court of appeal's ruling on the witness bias issue, 

the trial court violated Miguel's right to confront witnesses by upholding 

the State's objection to specific evidence that would have demonstrated 

the magnitude of Denise's feelings. Specifically, the court erred when it 
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excluded evidence that Denise had used a GPS tracker to follow Miguel to 

another woman's house, where she then assaulted him in front of that 

woman. RP 30-32, 235, 240. The court also excluded evidence that Denise 

had assaulted Miguel on other occasions when he was unfaithful and she 

was jealous. !d. 

State and federal courts recognize that simply allowing the defense 

to elicit testimony that a witness may be biased does not necessarily satis

fy the Sixth Amendment's right to confrontation. See e.g., Davis v. Alaska, 

415 U.S. 308,316,39 L. Ed. 2d 347,94 S. Ct. 1105,1110 (1974); State v. 

Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 230 P.3d 576 (2010). Rather, the defense has the 

right to present the specific facts that demonstrate the bias. As the court in 

State v. Robbins explained, "It is generally recognized, however, that the 

inquiry is not strictly limited to the simple question of whether hostility 

exists, but that, within reasonable limits, the witness may be interrogated 

as to particular facts tending to show the nature and extent of the hostili

ty." State v. Robbins, 35 Wn. 2d 389,396,213 P.2d 310,315 (1950). The 

true extent of Denise's bias against Miguel could not be established with

out presenting her extreme behavior, which included tracking and assault

ing Miguel. The defense had the right to present facts that would allow the 

jury to reach its own conclusions regarding Denise's bias and desire for 

revenge. See e.g., State v. Pickens, 27 Wn. App. 97, 100, 615 P.2d 537, 
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539 (1980) ("the court may violate the confrontation clause if it prevents 

the defense from placing facts before the jury from which such bias or 

prejudice may be inferred); Davis v. Alaska, supra at 316 (defense counsel 

should have been permitted to expose to the jury the facts from which ju

rors, as the sole triers of fact and credibility, could appropriately draw in

ferences relating to the reliability of the witness.) 

It is likely that many jurors have experienced feelings of anger or 

jealousy, but not to the extent that they would make a false accusation 

against somebody. It was incumbent upon the defense to show the intensi

ty of Denise's feelings, and simply asking her whether she was jealous 

about various other women did not allow the jury to infer or understand 

the extent of that jealousy and rage. On the other hand, using a GPS for 

tracking movements is an extraordinary measure, as is attacking Miguel in 

front of another woman. These actions demonstrated the intensity of Den

ise's feelings against Miguel, making it more understandable why she 

would make up false allegations against him. The fact that these specific 

acts occurred within two weeks of when Denise made her allegations to 

the police, makes this bias evidence even more germane. 

Because the exclusion of this crucial bias evidence violated Mi

guel's Sixth Amendment Right to confrontation, review is appropriate un-

der RAP 13.4(b)(3). 
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2. Review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(l), (2) and 
(3), where the trial court excluded an alternative expla
nation for the presence of DNA. 

In addition to the right of cross-examination, a defendant has the 

right to present evidence in his or her defense. Chambers v. Mississippi, 

410 U.S. 284, 294, 93 S. Ct. 1038, 35 L. Ed. 2d 297 (1973). Besides Den-

ise, the State's main evidence against Miguel were the small amounts of 

DNA evidence found on T.P.'s inner thigh, panties, and vagina area. RP 

218. To demonstrate an alternative source for the DNA, the defense 

sought to introduce evidence that T .P. had access to a vibrator regularly 

used by Miguel and Denise. RP 352. The vibrator was also key to the de-

fense theory that either the police or Denise could have used the DNA 

from that source to wrongfully accuse Miguel. RP 8, 353-354. The State's 

own expert agreed that DNA could be transferred from one object to an-

other person or thing, and that DNA can last for a long time on an object. 

RP 227-229. But when the trial court excluded all evidence of the vibrator, 

the defense lost the ability to meaningfully contest the DNA evidence. 

In his offer of proof, Miguel explained that he knew T.P. had used 

the vibrator because Denise had told him so. The court incorrectly be-

lieved this hearsay could not be used to lay an evidentiary foundation and 

ruled the vibrator inadmissible. Even assuming the court was correct 

about the hearsay, there was still firsthand testimony that the vibrator was 
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used regularly by both Miguel and Denise, and that it was easily accessi

ble to T.P. Additionally, the foundation was bolstered by the state's expert 

who said that DNA can remain on objects for long periods of time, and 

that DNA can be transferred from an object to a person. While Denise's 

hearsay statement would have added weight to the vibrator evidence, it 

was not a necessary part of the foundation. 

Similar to the bias evidence, the court of appeals concluded that 

the appropriate standard of review was an abuse of discretion. Slip Op. at 

14. Because of the aforementioned conflict between the divisions on this 

issue, review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b )(2). 

At trial the State argued that the vibrator evidence was inadmissi

ble because it was not reliable. Specifically, the State argued that because 

Miguel and Denise used the vibrator together, Denise's DNA would also 

have been present on the swab ifT.P. had used the vibrator. !d. Upon clos

er examination, this argument does not hold water. 

As to the lack of Denise's DNA on the swab, this argument goes to 

the weight of the testimony, not its admissibility. This Court's decision in 

State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 230 P.3d 576 (2010) is directly on point. 

Jones was a rape case with a consent defense. The defendant claimed that 

the complaining witness, his niece, had attended a sex party in which she 

had consensual sex with three men, including the defendant. Jones, 168 
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Wn.2d at 717. The only sperm found on the complaining witness, howev

er, was from the defendant. !d. at 724. The trial court excluded the sex par

ty evidence, believing that it was being used to attack the woman's credi

bility and was therefore barred by the rape shield statute. !d. at 71 7-18. 

This Court reversed the conviction in a unanimous decision. The 

Supreme Court explained that the rape shield statute did not apply in this 

context. !d. at 722. Further, explained the Court, even if the evidence had 

implicated the rape shield statute, the evidence would still have been ad

missible. This is because when evidence, if believed, has a high probative 

value, the Sixth Amendment requires admission of that evidence. Jones, 

168 Wn.2d at 721, 723; See, State v. Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d 1, 16, 659 P.2d 

514 (1983) (For evidence of high probative value "it appears no state in

terest can be compelling enough to preclude its introduction consistent 

with the Sixth Amendment and Const, art. 1, § 22.); State v. Reed, 101 

Wn. App. 704, 715, 6 P.3d 43 (2000) (''Evidence relevant to the defense of 

an accused will seldom be excluded, even in the face of a compelling state 

interest.'') 

The prosecution in Jones argued that the lack of sperm from any of 

the other men purportedly at this sex party made the proffered evidence 

unbelievable. This Court disagreed: 
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Admittedly, Jones's version of the events is not airtight. He 
did not call any of the other members of the alleged sex 
party as witnesses, K.D.'s testimony directly contradicted 
Jones's account, and only Jones's semen was found on 
K.D. Nevertheless, a reasonable jury that heard of a con
sensual sex party may have been inclined to see the sexual 
encounter in a different light. 

Jones, at 724. 

An error is not harmless unless the State can prove "beyond a rea-

sonable doubt that any reasonable jury would have reached the same result 

without the error." Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 724. See State v. Franklin, 180 

Wn.2d 371, 325 P.3d 159 (2014); (constitutional harmless error standard 

applies where right to confrontation violated by exclusion of other suspect 

evidence). 

In closing the prosecutor told the jury that the chance the DNA be-

longed to some other random person in the United States was 1 in 780 

quadrillion. The jury did not hear that there was another means by which

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